RECEIVED 02-04-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP001522-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ARTTISTIS B. HALL.

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan, Presiding

REPLACEMENT BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did Mr. Hall present a "fair and just" reason to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing?

The circuit court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Hall takes no position on publication. While Mr. Hall does not request oral argument, he welcomes the opportunity to discuss the case should the Court believe that oral argument would be of assistance to its resolution of the matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The information charged Mr. Hall with two counts of interference with child custody contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 948.31(1)(a)&(b). (6:1).

Mr. Hall pleaded guilty to an amended charge of contempt contrary to Wis. Stat. §785.03(1)(b). (9:1). He filed two motions to withdraw his guilty plea prior to sentencing. (12; 15). The circuit court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz, presiding, denied the motions without an evidentiary hearing. (73:6); (App. 108). Thereafter, Mr. Hall received a probation disposition. (23); (App. 101).

Mr. Hall ultimately filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal. (32).

That motion was denied after an evidentiary hearing. (57).¹

This appeal follows. (61).

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Underlying Offense

The criminal complaint indicates that Mr. Hall has a child in common with Emerald Flanagan. (2:2). Despite being ordered to return the child to Ms. Flanagan following family court proceedings, Mr. Hall did not comply with that order. (2:2). He also would not tell Ms. Flanagan where the child was located. (2:2). This formed the basis for the two charges of withholding and concealing a child under the statutes governing interference with child custody. (2:1).

Plea

On August 31, 2016, Mr. Hall resolved his case with a plea agreement in which he pleaded guilty to a single misdemeanor count of contempt of court. (67:3). A remaining felony charge of interference with child custody was dismissed and read-in. (67:3). The State agreed to recommend an imposed and stayed jail term but to leave the length of that sentence to the court's discretion. (67:4). It further agreed to

¹ The issues raised in that motion are not pursued on appeal.

request that the court place Mr. Hall on probation for a year. (67:4).

Presentence Motions to Withdraw Plea

On October 11, 2016, the parties appeared for sentencing before the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz. (68:3). However, defense counsel advised the court that Mr. Hall was now requesting to withdraw his plea. (68:3). Counsel did not indicate the basis for the request. (68:3). Mr. Hall explained that he requested materials from the family court which he believed were relevant to his defense and that his lawyer had refused to provide them. (68:4-5). Mr. Hall stated that he wanted to go to trial but that his lawyer "would not do nothing I asked of him." (68:5). The circuit court adjourned the proceedings so that Mr. Hall could discuss this matter with counsel. (68:6).

The parties appeared for another hearing before Judge Protasiewicz on October 25. (69). On that date, counsel again stated that Mr. Hall wished to withdraw his plea. (69:3). The court expressed skepticism at the wisdom of withdrawing the plea, given the favorable amendment at issue. (69:5). Mr. Hall denied that there had been any "back and forth" as to whether he wished to have a plea or a trial. (69:5). Instead, he stated that he consistently wanted a jury trial but that his lawyer "would insist in doing a plea instead." (69:5). The court indicated it was "sure" that defense counsel "did not insist on anything," telling Mr. Hall that he had received a "gift" from the State in terms of the plea he now

wished to withdraw. (69:5). The court then set a deadline for counsel to file a motion to withdraw the plea. (69:6).

On that same day, counsel filed a motion to withdraw Mr. Hall's guilty plea. (12:1). The motion alleged that Mr. Hall suffered from a learning disability, that he believed he would still be able to have a trial even after pleading guilty, that he had been pressured into accepting a plea, and that he was innocent of the charged offenses. (12:1). The motion further stated that Mr. Hall "has a valid and viable defense to the charges." (12:1).

Given the nature of the allegations, counsel moved to withdraw. (70:3). Successor counsel was then appointed. (72:3).

On January 17, 2017, successor counsel filed a second motion to withdraw the plea, which alleged that Mr. Hall's "plea was entered: (1) hastily and in confusion; (2) without adequate consultation with prior defense counsel; (3) with coercion by prior defense counsel; and (4) despite the assertion of innocence." (15:1). The motion referenced a letter that Mr. Hall ostensibly wrote to the Court. (15:3).²

On January 12, 2017, Judge Protasiewicz held a hearing on the motion. (73); (App. 104). The court stated: "I don't think the Defense's motion establishes

² No such letter is present in the court record.

a factual basis for me to grant relief." (73:3); (App. 105). Defense counsel asserted:

But what he's alleging is that he was -- he did the plea; he did it while he was in jail to get out of jail; he felt like he -- that he basically made the decision based on that; that he didn't actually do this, he feels; and, yet, he signed that. He acknowledges that he signed it, that he did that voluntarily. He just felt pressured to get out of jail and that's why he -- why he went forward with the plea. But he's saying he didn't do it.

He also said that when he got out of jail on the 28th of September, that he actually had told his attorney then, and the attorney took until October 11th. So it's a little bit earlier than what is asserted in here. So he has no problem with his prior counsel. That's really not the issue. It's more a personal decision that he made to get out of jail.

(73:4); (App. 106).

The court examined the plea colloquy and stated that the colloquy was sufficient. (73:5-6); (App. 107-108). It denied the defense motion. (73:6); (App. 108).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Here, the circuit court failed to apply the controlling legal standard to Mr. Hall's plea withdrawal claim. In independently reviewing his motions and his statements to the court, it is clear that Mr. Hall has articulated a sufficient explanation

for his desire to withdraw the plea. Accordingly, he should be entitled to that remedy on remand.

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying Mr. Hall's presentence motion to withdraw his plea.
 - A. Legal principles and standard of review.

"The appropriate and applicable law in the case before the court, is that a defendant should be allowed to withdraw a guilty plea for any fair and just reason, unless the prosecution would be substantially prejudiced." State v. Canedy, 161 Wis. 2d 565, 582, 469 N.W.2d 163 (1991) (emphasis in original). This standard "contemplates the mere showing of some adequate reason for the defendant's change of heart." Libke v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 208 N.W.2d 331 (1973). Thus, "the circuit court is to look only for a fair and just reason and freely allow the withdrawal" when requested by the defendant. State v. Kivioja, 225 Wis. 2d 271, 287, 592 N.W.2d 220 (1999). The defendant bears the burden of proving that a fair and just reason exists by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Jenkins, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 32, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 24.

Review of the denial of a pretrial motion to withdraw a plea involves a mixed standard of review. "A circuit court's discretionary decision to grant or deny a motion to withdraw a plea before sentencing is subject to review under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard." *Id.*, ¶ 30. In order for the circuit court's determination to pass muster on appeal, the record must demonstrate that the "circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." Loy v. Bunderson, 107 Wis. 2d 400, 414-415, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982). "Where the circuit court provides an inadequate account to show application of the facts to the proper legal standard, [this Court must] 'independently review the record to determine whether the trial court's decision can be sustained when the facts are applied to the applicable law." Jenkins, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 35 (quoting Libke, 60) Wis. 2d at 129)).

However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has also asserted that "When there are no issues of fact or credibility in play, the question whether the defendant has offered a fair and just reason becomes a question of law that we review de novo." *Id.*, ¶ 34.

B. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying the motion as Mr. Hall has presented a "fair and just reason" for plea withdrawal.

Here, the record is clear that the circuit court applied the incorrect legal standard in assessing Mr. Hall's motion(s). It also did not take testimony from Mr. Hall or his attorney in order to evaluate the credibility of his claims, which appears to be a legal

prerequisite for relief. *Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 43. Instead, the circuit court merely reviewed the transcript of the plea colloquy and determined that:

- Mr. Hall had been advised of the maximum penalties. (73:5); (App. 107).
- Mr. Hall had been advised that the circuit court "didn't have to follow the plea negotiation." (73:5); (App. 107).
- Mr. Hall had been asked about his education. (73:6); (App. 108).
- Mr. Hall stated, during the plea colloquy, that he understood "what's happening." (73:6); (App. 108).
- Mr. Hall was asked whether he was under the influence of medication or drugs. (73:6); (App. 108).
- Mr. Hall had been informed of his rights. (73:6); (App. 108).
- Mr. Hall expressed no dissatisfaction with appointed counsel during the colloquy. (73:6); (App. 108).

However, the circuit court's inquiries failed to properly focus on the legal issues presented in Mr. Hall's motions and statements—i.e., whether a "fair and just" reason supported his request for plea withdrawal.

As Mr. Hall told the court, his lawyer had failed to obtain materials related to the family court case—the court proceedings from which this criminal case arose—prior to his plea. (68:4). He also stated that his lawyer had pressured him to take a plea, despite his expressed desire to have a jury trial. (68:5). In the first motion, Mr. Hall repeated his allegation of being pressured, coupling that allegation with an assertion that he was learning disabled and that he may have misunderstood the criminal court process. (12:1). The motion contained an explicit assertion of innocence along with an acknowledgement that there was a "valid and viable defense" available to Mr. Hall. (12:1). In his second motion, Mr. Hall continued to assert that his lawyer pressured him to plead guilty, stating that he did not wish to sign the plea form. (15:3). At the hearing, his lawyer told the court that Mr. Hall had an intense desire to be let out of jail and that this desire fueled his decision to take the plea. (73:5); (App. 106).

At no point, however, did the circuit court address these concerns. In fact, the circuit court explicitly abdicated its role in refusing to determine whether these facts and circumstances satisfied the "fair and just reason" standard it was obligated to apply. Instead, it denied the motion without ever citing that legal standard and without giving Mr. Hall the opportunity to further develop his claims through testimony.

In light of this record, the circuit court clearly failed to appropriately exercise its discretion as it applied the wrong legal standard. See State v. Jackson, 2014 WI 4, ¶43, 352 Wis. 2d 249, 841 N.W.2d 791. ("A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it applies an improper legal standard or makes a decision not reasonably supported by the facts of record.")

That is, in focusing on the plea colloquy, the circuit court appears to have conflated the standard for a post-sentencing plea withdrawal motion based upon an insufficient plea colloquy as articulated in *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986) with the more liberal standard of a "fair and just reason" applicable to a pre-sentence plea withdrawal motion. While a prima facie showing of a plea colloquy defect would be necessary to obtain post-sentencing relief under *Bangert*, no such showing is necessary under the more liberal presentencing standard. *See Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 62. (Plea colloquy defect is a sufficient, but not necessary, condition for pre-sentencing plea withdrawal).

Here, Mr. Hall's pleadings—accompanied by his statements in open court—demonstrate the existence of a "fair and just reason" for plea withdrawal. Mr. Hall's motion went beyond "the desire to have a trial [...] or belated misgivings about the plea," *Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶ 32, and therefore satisfied the legal standard by alleging "some adequate reason" for his decision to withdraw the plea. *Libke*, 60 Wis. 2d at 128.

Here, Mr. Hall informed the circuit court that he had concerns about the sufficiency of his attorney's investigation. (68:4). His lawyer did not contest the allegation that he did not acquire the materials which Mr. Hall believed to be relevant. (68:4). That allegation is suggestive, especially when it is placed in context of Mr. Hall's repeated allegation that his lawyer pressured him to take the plea. (12:1; 15:3; 68:5). Although the circuit court agreed that these allegations required trial counsel's withdrawal, no further testimony was developed which would rebut Mr. Hall's claim. Moreover, Mr. Hall also stated that he was additionally pressured as a result of his ongoing incarceration while this case pended. (73:5); (App. 106). In addition, Mr. Hall is learning disabled and appeared to have had some confusion about the court process. (12:1). Mr. Hall's pleadings show that, despite his plea, he was adamant in his innocence and that he had an actual defense to present at trial. (12).

Putting all of this together, it is clear that Mr. Hall proffered "some adequate reason" which would explain his change of heart. Mr. Hall's lawyer did not conduct necessary tasks that would enable Mr. Hall to feel comfortable about the plea and, instead, pressured him to take a plea that he did not want. Mr. Hall appears to have been particularly susceptible to this pressure as a result of his learning disability, his misunderstandings about the criminal justice system, and the psychological pressures created by pretrial incarceration.

Accordingly, Mr. Hall satisfactorily proved the existence of a "fair and just reason" for plea withdrawal. This Court should therefore reverse the circuit court's order denying the motion and remand for further proceedings.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Hall therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse the ruling of the circuit court and to remand so that he may withdraw his guilty plea.