RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-17-2019

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2018AP001522-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ARTTISTIS B. HALL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Hanrahan, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Kelly O'Neill Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1091246 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

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

ARGUMENT

I. MR. HALL FAILED TO PROVIDE A CREDIBLE FAIR AND JUST REASON TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA.

A defendant faces three obstacles upon a motion to withdraw a plea prior to sentencing. Jenkins at ¶43. The first obstacle a defendant faces is that they must proffer a fair and just reason for withdrawal. Id. First, looking to the reasons presented by Mr. Hall and both of his attorneys for his plea withdrawal. There were several different reasons presented in motions and verbally to the court. The first time the issue of plea withdrawal was brought up was at the October 11, 2016, sentencing hearing (R68:1-2). Attorney Givens relayed to the court that he was uncertain as to what basis Mr. Hall had for wishing to withdraw. (R68:2). At that time the court inquired of Mr. Hall what the issue was between Mr. Hall and Attorney Givens and Mr. Hall brought up transcripts that he had not gotten. (R68:2). The court discussed this issue with Attorney Givens and Attorney Givens relayed that he had discussed transcripts with Mr. Hall and that they had no relevance to the case. (R68:3-4). At that time the court found that there is no basis for plea withdrawal but allowed the parties time to meet and discuss the issue. (R68:4-5). So the first issue was explicitly addressed by the court, discussed with Attorney Givens on the record, and properly denied as a basis for plea withdrawal by the court.

On October 25, 2016, the parties returned to court and Attorney Givens updated that he had spent a great deal of time discussing the matter with Mr. Hall and based upon those conversations believed that they would be proceeding to sentencing but now once again Mr. Hall was indicating that he wanted to withdraw his plea. (R69:1-2). Following that court appearance Attorney Givens filed a motion to withdraw the plea. (R12:1). That motion listed four reasons including Mr. Halls learning disability, a belief that although entering a plea Mr. Hall would still have a jury trial, that Attorney Givens pressured Mr. Hall into pleading, and that Mr. Hall was innocent. (R12:1). The parties return to court on November 10, 2016, the court informs the parties that the documents have been gathered to address the motion but that it now appeared that defense was moving to withdraw. (R70:2). The court asked Mr. Hall directly if he wanted a new attorney and if defense had talked him into pleading. (R70:3). Mr. Hall responds," I believe just my misunderstanding of the whole papers and stuff is really the reason for signing. I don't think he coerced me. I won't say that." (R70:3). Here Mr. Hall is directly telling the court that he does not believe Attorney Given's coerced him. Mr. Hall also now gives another reason saying that he misunderstood the paperwork. At that time the court allowed Attorney Givens to withdraw.

In order to assess whether Mr. Hall's proffered reasons meet the fair and just standard one may look to the plea colloquy and Mr. Hall's own comments to the court. Starting with the claim that Attorney Givens pressured Mr. Hall into pleading the court specifically asks Mr. Hall about that claim and Mr. Hall unequivocally responds that he doesn't think Attorney Givens coerced him. (R70:3). Moving on to the claims that Mr. Hall misunderstood things and thought he would still have a trial. During the plea colloquy the court spent time making sure Mr. Hall understood what was happening and expressed an understanding. The court took breaks in the proceedings to allow Mr. Hall to discuss and clarify the things he needed to with Attorney Givens. (R67:5-6). The court also repeatedly clarifies with Mr. Hall that he understands what is happening. (R67:6,8). The court also goes through the rights Mr. Hall is giving up specifically the right to a jury trial and walks through different aspects of a jury trial with Mr. Hall. (R67:10). After all of this the court again confirms with Mr.

Hall that he understands what is happening. (R67:10). Mr. Hall also confirms with the court that he is happy with Attorney Givens representation. (R67:11). During the plea colloquy Mr. Hall describes in his own words how he violated the law and clearly pleads guilty. (R67:7). Attorney Givens describes meeting with Mr. Hall for a couple of hours to complete and explain the paperwork especially accounting for any confusion Mr. Hall might have because of any disability. (R67:9). Given the record previously made none of these additional reasons prove to be a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal.

On January 3, 2017, Attorney Wineke on behalf of Mr. Hall filed another motion to withdraw the plea. (R15:1). This new motion also lists four grounds, although some are different than the previously asserted reasons. Those grounds are that the plea was entered hastily and in confusion, without adequate consultation with prior counsel, with coercion by prior counsel, and despite the assertion of innocence. (R15:1). The parties, and now Attorney Wineke as defense counsel, returned to court on January 12, 2017 to address the motion. (R73:1). The court begins by relaying that the defense's motion did not establish a factual basis for relief. (R73:3). At this time Attorney Wineke told the court that the reason Mr. Hall is asking for plea withdrawal is that he made the plea while in jail to get out of jail. (R73:3). Ms. Wineke further stated that Mr. Hall has no problem with his prior counsel and that Mr. Hall just made a personal decision to get out of jail. (R73:3). The court then thoroughly reviewed the plea hearing. (R73:4-5). The court noted that there were breaks in the proceedings when Mr. Hall didn't understand something and that Mr. Hall expressed an understanding of what was happening during the plea colloquy. (R73:4-5). The court noted that during the proceedings there was no vacillation on the part of Mr. Hall. (R73:5). Upon review the court found that all of Mr. Hall's rights were reviewed. (R73:5). The court noted that Attorney Givens made a record of all of his meetings with Mr. Hall and that Mr. Hall expressed satisfaction with Attorney Givens representation. (73:5). The court concluded by finding that nothing argued had risen to the level of allowing Mr. Hall to withdraw his plea and accordingly denied the motion. (R73:5).

The court properly looked to the plea colloquy to compare it to the reasons that Mr. Hall was now giving to

support his plea withdrawal. During the plea colloquy Attorney Givens clearly describes meeting at length with Mr. Hall while Mr. Hall is now saying he entered his plea hastily and in confusion without adequate consultation with prior counsel. (R67:9). The record clearly refutes these statements. In the written motion Attorney Wineke writes that Mr. Hall signed the plea on August 31, 2016, prior to the plea hearing and then immediately entered his guilty plea to support the assertion that Mr. Hall hastily entered his plea. (R15:3). Reviewing the record this is incorrect because Mr. Hall signed the plea paperwork on August 16, 2016, several days prior to when he actually entered the plea. (R6:2-3). This break in time would have given Mr. Hall additional opportunity to reflect on his decision prior to entering the guilty plea on August 31, 2016. Attorney Wineke also brings up coercion by Attorney Givens in the written motion submitted to the court but after consulting with Mr. Hall she conveys to the court that Mr. Hall has no issues with his prior counsel. (R73:3). Here defense on their own has invalidated one of the proffered fair and just reasons. Also Mr. Hall had previously said the same in open court when he told the court that Attorney Givens had not coerced him. (R70:3). The motion also references Mr. Hall's innocence but returning to the plea colloquy Mr. Hall not only pled guilty but in his own words described the actions he had taken that violated the statute. (R67:7). Finally, Mr. Hall claims that he was pressured to plea because he was in custody. The first time this claim was made was in court for the motion hearing and was never advanced in a written motion prior to that date. The argument made was just that it was unfair. This argument does not meet the fair and just standard. The justice system requires that a portion of defendants will sign their plea paperwork while in custody. The fact that they are in custody when signing does not equate to a fair and just reason to later withdraw their pleas. Despite the numerous reasons provided to the court not one reason met obstacle one in advancing a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal. Further, Mr. Hall never showed why it would be fair and just to disregard the solemn answers that he gave in the colloquy when the plea colloquy in this case was more than sufficient.

The second obstacle a defendant faces when entering a motion to withdraw a plea prior to sentencing is that the court must find the fair and just reason credible. *Jenkins* at ¶ 43. In

this case the court went through and addressed the many different reasons advanced by Mr. Hall. Reviewing the record, specifically Mr. Hall's interactions with the court, and documents filed with the court several of the statements made by Mr. Hall and his counsel were conflicting. These conflicting statements go towards the credibility of Mr. Hall's purported reasons for withdrawal. When directly questioned by the court Mr. Hall relayed that that he did not think Attorney Given's coerced him. (R70:3). Through Attorney Wineke Mr. Hall relayed that he had no problem with Attorney Given's representation (R73:3.) Mr. Hall, also through his attorneys, advanced reasons that were directly contradictory to several of the statements he made to the court during the plea colloquy and in further proceedings. Review of the plea colloquy shows that the court took quite a bit of time to ensure Mr. Hall's understanding of the circumstances including taking breaks in the proceedings to clarify any confusion. (R67:7). For Mr. Hall to later say that he didn't understand what was happening when compared to the record made doesn't tend to weigh in favor of Mr. Hall's reasons in that regard being deemed credible.

Further, when looking to the grounds in Attorney Wineke's motion to withdraw, specifically those pertaining to prior counsel, the record clearly contradicts those claims. Attorney Givens made a very clear record when the plea was entered that he had spent a couple of hours going through the paperwork and the case with Mr. Hall to ensure that Mr. Hall understood everything. (R67:9). Further Mr. Hall explicitly told the court that he was not coerced by Attorney Givens. (R70:3). Attorney Wineke also writes that Mr. Hall had asserted his innocence while a quick review of the record shows that Mr. Hall not only pled guilty to the charge but described to the court in his own words what he did that was contempt of court. (R67:7).

Finally, when it comes to credibility the sheer number of reasons advanced to the court in this case weigh against the credibility of the claims. Instead of advancing one reason that would meet the required fair and just standard for plea withdrawal several varying and incongruent claims were advanced. This inability to provide a clear reason that Mr. Hall's plea should be withdrawn weighs against the credibility of the claims.

The third obstacle facing a defendant upon a motion to withdraw a plea prior to sentencing is that the defendant must rebut evidence of substantial prejudice to the State. Jenkins at ¶43. In this case, Mr. Hall has not rebutted the evidence of substantial prejudice to the State. The victim in the underlying case is EF. EF was present and in court prepared to make a statement on several different occasions. EF continued disrupting her life to be present in court so her voice could be heard. EF was in court on several dates for these proceedings including August 31, 2016, October 11, 2016, October 25, 2016. (R67:3, R68:5, R69:3). After such close involvement from a victim and the numerous court appearances attended by both the victim and the State allowing Mr. Hall to continue to extend the proceedings by advancing several different reasons to withdraw a plea that was clearly voluntarily and knowingly given would be substantially prejudicial to the State.

Mr. Hall failed to proffer a fair and just reason for plea withdrawal failing to meet obstacle one. The proffered reasons were not found credible by the circuit court failing to surpass obstacle two. Mr. Hall did not rebut the evidence of substantial prejudice to the State required to meet obstacle three. Therefore, Mr. Hall's motion to withdraw his plea prior to sentencing was properly denied.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DENIAL OF MR. HALL'S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA WAS A PROPER EXERCISE OF DISCRETION.

In *Jenkins* the Court emphasizes the remaining importance of the trial court's discretion stating that, ""Discretion" appears to temper "fair and just reason" in all our cases." *Id.* at ¶ 42. Finally, the Court notes that, "Nevertheless, because a fair and just reason will nullify both a sufficient plea colloquy and a constitutionally valid plea, the court may consider whether the proffered fair and just reason outweighs the efficient administration of justice." *Id.* at ¶ 63.

The final reason provided by Mr. Hall to the court for why he should be allowed to withdraw his plea was that he felt pressured to get out of jail. (R73:3). This reason would be far outweighed by the efficient administration of justice. There are numerous defendants who fill out their plea paperwork while in custody but being in custody does not automatically invalidate that paperwork and their subsequent pleas. If feeling pressure due to being in custody at the time of signing plea paperwork was deemed a fair and just reason for withdrawing a plea that would become a substantial road block to the efficient administration of justice. The court's denial of Mr. Hall's motion to withdraw his plea was a proper exercise of discretion and further if Mr. Hall's reason was found to be fair and just it would not outweigh the necessity of the efficient administration of justice.

III. UPON REVIEW OF THE RECORD THE COURT MUST AFFIRM THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION TO DENY MR. HALL'S MOTION.

When addressing a motion to withdraw a plea prior to sentencing the reviewing court must affirm unless the circuit court's decision was clearly erroneous. *State v. Jenkins*, 2007 WI 96, ¶44, 303 Wis. 2d 157, 736 N.W.2d 21. On appeal the defendant faces two additional substantial obstacles. *Id.* The first is the standard of review that requires the reviewing court to affirm unless the circuit court's decision was clearly erroneous. *Id.* The second obstacle is the extensive plea colloquy required of the circuit court. *Id.* The Court in *Jenkins* further notes that, "the extensive plea colloquy is designed to secure a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary plea from the defendant and a developed record from which reviewing courts may evaluate the circuit court's decision." *Id.*

Looking to the circuit court's decision and the reasoning laid out in section one above the circuit court clearly did not erroneously decide to deny Mr. Hall's motion. There was never a clear fair and just reason provided to the court for plea withdrawal and each time Mr. Hall came before the court he would provide different or contradictory responses to questions asked. The court had several interactions with Mr. Hall and when the court questioned Mr. Hall or his counsel Mr. Hall would continue to deny some of the very reasons advanced as fair and just reasons for his plea withdrawal. The court properly looked to the plea hearing transcript to assess the reasons that

Mr. Hall presented to the court for plea withdrawal. The court also appropriately recognized that the reasons advanced were addressed in the plea colloquy and that Mr. Hall had not presented any fair and just reason to disregard the solemn answers Mr. Hall provided during the plea colloquy with the court.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court uphold the decision of the circuit court denying Mr. Hall's motion to withdraw his plea and uphold the judgment of conviction.